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Foreword





This is the story of the longest-ever literary party, which went on in Montparnasse, on the Left Bank, throughout the 1920s.


Writers tend to huddle in gangs for self-protection; hence Bloomsbury, the Transcendentalists of Concord, the Auden Generation. Most of them are ‘movements’ to which we ourselves would not greatly wish to have belonged; we would have found Virginia Woolf terrifying, Ralph Waldo Emerson daunting, W. H. Auden overpowering. The American literary goings-on in Paris during the 1920s are a different matter.


‘I went to a marvellous party,’ runs the first line of a Noël Coward song, and evidently that was how it felt to have been a young American writer – or would-be writer – in the Montparnasse district of Paris after the First World War. It is hard to read about life in ‘the Quarter’, as they all called Montparnasse, without wishing to have tasted it oneself – to have bumped into Ernest Hemingway in a bar, to have drunk away the night with Robert McAlmon, to have been caught up in the intrigues of the expatriates and participated in their long fiesta. It was far from being the most productive ‘movement’ in literary history; but to live in Paris is always a delight, and to live there when life seems full of possibilities and tomorrow you might turn out to be a genius – well, to quote another song,* ‘Who could ask for anything more?’


This book, its title shamelessly stolen from Robert McAlmon’s memoirs of Paris in the 1920s, Being Geniuses Together (1938), is chiefly a collage of Left-Bank expatriate life as it was experienced by the Hemingway generation – the Lost Generation, as Gertrude Stein named them in a famous remark to Hemingway. There had been Americans in Paris for nearly 150 years before this particular crowd arrived, and I have prefaced the story with a brief history of the special relationship between the USA and the French capital. Next, I have supplied brief portraits of the three women – Gertrude Stein, Natalie Clifford Barney, and Sylvia Beach – who, arriving in Paris before the First World War, provided in their different ways meeting points and vital introductions for the exiles of the 1920s. But the main narrative concerns the years 1921 to 1928, because these saw the arrival and departure of Hemingway and most of his Paris associates.


Even within this short period I have been highly selective. The volume of the Dictionary of Literary Biography devoted to American writers in Paris between the two World Wars† contains nearly 100 entries, and Robert McAlmon could think of 250 expatriates connected with the arts in Montparnasse during the 1920s. I have concentrated on those I believe to be the most intriguing (in both senses of that word), and have allowed only a comparatively small number of the others to flit in and out of the narrative; even so, the ‘Biographies in Brief’ at the end of the book may be needed to help identify minor characters. The epilogue, dealing with the years after 1928, is short. There were American writers haunting the Dôme, the Sélect, and other Montparnasse cafés long after the Lost Generation had gone home, but the period 1921 to 1928 was when the party was at its wildest.




*‘I Got Rhythm’, by the Gershwin brothers, from the film An American in Paris (1951).


†For details of this and other books referred to in the narrative, see the bibliography and notes at the end of the book.






















PROLOGUE


A denser civilisation than our own

















In the seventeenth arrondissement of Paris, roughly half-way between the Arc de Triomphe and the railway lines that sprout north-westwards from the Gare St Lazare, lies the rue de Chazelles, where in former times stood the iron foundry of Monduit et Béchet. Here, during the year 1883, passers-by had their attention diverted by a curious spectacle.


The first that could be seen of it, projecting above the foundry walls, was a hand of stupendous proportions, grasping a gigantic torch, of which the rim was so broad as to permit several workmen to stand upon it. A few weeks later the hand had risen level with the second storey of the neighbouring apartment blocks, and a face could be seen frowning over the foundry, its forehead topped with a spiked corona. Thereafter, month by month, the colossus relentlessly raised its robed torso, until it dominated the surrounding streets with their little tabacs and wine-shops. All the time there was the sound of hammering.


The foundry and its formidable iron figure soon became a favourite Sunday resort for Parisian strollers. Wine-stalls were set up in the street, and leaflets were distributed by the Committee which had proudly given birth to the giantess. She was called (so read the Parisians) La Liberté éclairant le monde, and she was to be a gift from the French people – or such as cared to contribute to her cost – to their republican brethren across the Atlantic. The noted sculptor Monsieur Bartholdi had designed her; the ingenious framework beneath the iron sheets of her skin was the work of the up-and-coming engineer Monsieur Eiffel; and the entire project was the brainchild of the distinguished historian Monsieur Laboulaye, who had conceived it as a commemoration of the centenary of the American nation’s Declaration of Independence.


Admittedly the project had been so long in gestation that the centenary had come and gone, and it was true that the American Congress had shown itself somewhat hesitant about the gift. But a splendid site, on an island at the entrance to New York harbour, had been granted, so that future generations of emigrants to the New World would be greeted by La Liberté, a symbol of that Franco-American amity which had begun in 1776. Plans were already being made to transport her, piece by piece, by train from the Gare St Lazare to the harbour at Rouen, whence she would take ship to her new home. Some disappointment was expressed in the newspapers that so splendid a creation would not be remaining in Paris.


*


A hundred and seven years earlier, on 5 July 1776, Paris had received its first official American visitor. His name was Silas Deane, and he did not know that he was technically an American. News had not yet come that a Declaration of Independence had been signed, and Deane, a Connecticut congressman, regarded himself as still a subject, though an unwilling one, of the British Crown. He was the first member of a delegation sent to win the support of France for the colonies’ War of Independence to arrive in Paris.


He was not well equipped for the task: he could scarcely speak half a dozen words of French, and on principle he would not address any Frenchman who claimed an aristocratic title. By October he had managed to buy arms from France, but he had hardly attracted the notice of the Parisians. However, by Christmas another member of the delegation had joined him, and suddenly Paris was agog.


Benjamin Franklin was seventy years old, and in many ways typified the founding fathers of the USA. As a youth he had made his way from Boston to Philadelphia, where he set himself up as a printer. He made his fortune and fame by publishing almanacs full of self-help maxims (‘He that riseth late must trot all day’), and by the age of forty-two could afford to retire and devote himself to public works and scientific experiments. He established a Free Library and a university in Philadelphia; he also invented the lightning-conductor, and devised much of the electrical terminology that we still use today, including ‘positive’, ‘negative’, and ‘battery’. He served in Congress, made a trip to London to conduct some tricky Government business, and soon after the Declaration of Independence was chosen as a commissioner to the Court of France. It was hoped that he could secure economic and military assistance for the Americans, and raise French sympathy for their cause. France was chosen for this mission because it was the traditional enemy of England.


Franklin had never before set foot in Europe, but had spent hours in the reading room of his own Free Library in Philadelphia teaching himself French, and had corresponded with French scientific societies. His lightning-conductor had already been adopted all over France. The French were looking forward to meeting him in person.


He arrived in Paris in mid-December 1776, putting up in a mansion on the rue de l’Université, and was immediately besieged by Paris intellectuals and fashionable persons who wished to inspect this distinguished emissary of the New World. After a few weeks he escaped to the comparative quiet of Passy, a little village on the road to Versailles. He was given quarters free of charge in the mansion of one Monsieur de Chaumont, supplier of uniforms to the French army, who hoped that in return for hospitality he might be rewarded with a grant of land in the USA. Five years later, when Franklin was still staying in the house and no land had been offered, Monsieur de Chaumont thought he had better charge rent after all.


Franklin was thoroughly amiable, and women and children adored him, especially women. A young American visitor to Passy describes one of the de Chaumont girls approaching the old man as if she were his own daughter, tapping him playfully on the cheek and calling him ‘Papa Franklin’. Franklin himself reported to a niece in Boston: ‘This is the civilest Nation upon Earth …’Tis a delightful people to live with.’ He had brought his two grandsons with him; the younger boy was sent to school in Passy, while the elder acted as secretary to his grandfather.


Franklin was amazed by the extravagant costume and manners of the French aristocracy, who filled their noses with tobacco, dressed their heads so elaborately that their hats would not stay on, and therefore had to walk about with them under their arms. But unlike Silas Deane he was amused rather than outraged by it all, while for their part the aristocrats reciprocated his kindly curiosity, admiring his shrewdness and lack of artifice rather than being affronted by his rough ways. One French count wrote enviously of Franklin’s ‘almost rustic attire, the simple but proud attitude, the free and direct language, the hair-style without trappings or powder’, and judged him more genuinely civilised than his French counterparts; it was as if one of Plato’s friends had suddenly strolled into ‘the weak and servile civilisation of the eighteenth century’.


Franklin himself perfectly understood the effect he was having, and played on it. He described himself as ‘very plainly dressed, wearing my thin, gray straight hair, that peeps out from under my only coiffure, a fine fur cap, which comes down on my forehead almost to my spectacles. Think how this must appear among the powdered heads of Paris!’ The fur cap, acquired during a journey to Canada a few months earlier, seemed a good middle course between the aristocratic hairstyles and the headgear of the poor. Franklin also wore bifocal glasses (another of his own inventions) and found that he particularly needed them when talking to Frenchmen, since ‘when one’s Ears are not well accustomed to the Sounds of a Language, a Sight of the Movement in the Features of him that speaks helps to explain; so that I understand French better by the help of my Spectacles’. Even with them on, he did not always understand everything. Attending a meeting of the French Academy of Sciences, he decided it was safest to clap whenever his neighbour did – and so applauded loudest and longest when he himself was being eulogised.


From the outset, Paris adored him. After only three weeks it had become the mode for everyone to have his picture over the mantelpiece. His face appeared on trinkets and snuff-boxes, on vases, even on chamber-pots, and ladies began to arrange their wigs in imitation of his fur cap. A medallion of him was put on sale, bearing the legend B. FRANKLIN – AMERICAIN.


Silas Deane went home and was replaced by the young American statesman John Adams; some time later Thomas Jefferson was sent over to join the delegation. Both men brought their families. An American colony was establishing itself in Paris, for along with the diplomats there was now a trickle of merchants, artists, and young men in search of an education. Soon the trickle became a flow, and they all expected Franklin to invite them to dinner. He tried to keep at least part of his weekend free for ‘my grandson Ben with some of the American children from his school’, but Americans were always turning up at Passy, and he felt obliged to entertain them.


Despite the warm welcome the Parisians had given him, Franklin found it an uphill task to negotiate a firm Franco-American alliance. The two countries could scarcely have differed more in religion and method of government, and there was also the snag (said Franklin) that the French noblesse, ‘who always govern here’, thought it ‘indiscreet and improper’ even to mention Trade.


Meanwhile the British suspected the worst of Franklin’s negotiations. They planted a spy in his household at Passy, who sent a hair-raising report that Franklin and the French were plotting to construct some giant mirrors. These would be set up at Calais, and would reflect the heat of the sun on to the Royal Navy across the Channel, burning it up as it lay at anchor. While the fire was blazing, said the spy, Franklin would have a huge chain carried across to Dover, and by means of ‘a prodigious electrical machine of his own invention’ would ‘convey such a shock as will entirely overturn our whole island’.


Franklin’s real business in Paris was rather more prosaic. On 20 March 1778 treaties of alliance and commerce were signed by him and Louis XVI. Franklin had a wig specially made for the occasion, but it did not fit, so he decided to meet the King in his own hair and without a ceremonial sword. One of the French aristocracy who was present said that ‘but for his noble face’ one would have supposed him to be ‘a big farmer’. The King told Franklin: ‘Assure Congress of my friendship. I hope this will be for the good of the two nations.’


*


Franklin finally went back to Philadelphia in 1785, after nearly nine years in Paris, taking with him several crates of mineral water, and leaving the Paris mission in the charge of Thomas Jefferson, who had been in public service since his mid-twenties and was an example of a new type of American. He took grand quarters in the Champs-Élysées, engaged his own maitre d’hôtel, acquired a carriage, powdered his hair, and frequented the smartest salons. During working hours he set about negotiating further commercial deals with the French, in the hope of shifting the main part of American overseas trade from Britain to France.


He was helped by the Marquis de Lafayette, who had joined Washington’s army in the War of Independence and had proved a daring and capable commander of volunteer French troops. Now a citizen of several of the States, Lafayette had christened his two children Virginia and George Washington, and had taught them to sing American songs. He had also adopted two American Indian boys, and in the study of his Paris mansion had hung a framed copy of the Declaration of Independence; next to it was a blank frame, which Lafayette said was ‘waiting for the declaration of the rights of France’.


Even with Lafayette’s support, Jefferson could not cut his way very far through the jungle of tax-farming that tangled the French economic system and made negotiation practically impossible, while with the end of the American War of Independence against Britain, trade had automatically begun to flow again between those two countries. Jefferson ruefully admitted that there were links that bound the USA to the British, ‘whether we will or no’.


For all his keenness to adopt the manners of the Parisians, Jefferson was not very impressed with what he called, with a slight sneer, ‘the vaunted scene of Europe’. As a self-styled ‘savage from the mountains of America’, he said he found the general fate of humanity in the European countries ‘most deplorable’; Voltaire had been right to judge that every man there must be either the hammer or the anvil. Admittedly Europeans were still far ahead of Americans in manners and the arts, but, ‘My God!’ said Jefferson, ‘how little do my countrymen know what precious blessings they are in possession of, and which no other people on earth enjoy. I confess I had no idea of it myself.’


He also feared the influence of Europe on young Americans who came abroad. He noticed how in Paris they acquired a ‘fondness for European luxury and dissipation’, even ‘a spirit of female intrigue’. It was all very un-American; he wished their parents would not send them.


This did not stop him enjoying Paris to the full. He would work all morning, ride in the Bois de Boulogne, then sometimes explore the bookshops on the Left Bank; when he eventually went back to the USA the books he had bought in Paris required 250 feet of shelves. Dinner in mid-afternoon was followed by the theatre, the opera or a concert, then a visit to some glittering salon. He was introduced to Madame de Staël, and became particular friends with Lafayette’s aunt, the Comtesse de Tessé, who snared his passion for gardening. He had a friendly dispute with the naturalist Buffon about the size and appearance of the American moose. Since Buffon could not be persuaded that it looked quite different from a reindeer, Jefferson sent over for a specimen to prove his point. Eventually a giant skeleton arrived; the creature had been specially hunted down and shot by a New Hampshire general, who enclosed his bill.


Over in Jefferson’s home state of Virginia they wanted a new Capitol building for Richmond, the seat of government, and they wrote to ask for Jefferson’s advice. He recommended that they copy a Roman building he had seen on his travels around France, the Maison Carré at Nimes. They agreed; he sent a French architect over to Richmond to supervise the job, and the result was so successful that it was copied in American public buildings until the First World War.


By contrast, when Jefferson went to England for the first time in 1786 he was impressed by nothing except the mechanical inventions and the landscape gardening. His notes on his English travels rarely ran to more than a bare statement of accounts: ‘For seeing house where Shakespeare was born, 1s.; seeing his tomb-stone, 1s.’


*


As the French Revolution approached, Jefferson felt himself to be more than an onlooker, knowing that the USA had provided a model for the French republican movement. He hoped the final settlement in France would resemble the English constitutional monarchy, rather than aiming for full-scale democracy all at once, and was fearful that in attempting too much the revolutionaries would lose everything.


In the spring of 1789 he sketched out a proposed Charter of Rights for France, largely modelled on the US Constitution, hoping that Louis XVI might sign it. There was provision in it for habeas corpus and a free press; legislation would be in the hands of the Estates General (nobility, clergy, and bourgeoisie), with the King’s consent; fiscal privileges were to be abolished. But another American on the scene, the conservative-minded Pennsylvania statesman Gouverneur Morris, who in 1787 had been responsible for much of the final wording of the Constitution, thought Jefferson was far too radical and democratic in his attitude to the French insurrection. Morris admired French royalty and was alarmed by the mob.


Up to now, American politics had been conducted mostly by consensus; there were two factions, but they usually managed to agree. Suddenly, the execution of Louis XVI and France’s declaration of war against Britain caused a rift between them. The conservative element had always implicitly opposed the French Revolution, and now (said Jefferson) they were ‘open-mouthed against the murderers of a sovereign’. The more democratic faction were alarmed by events in France, but still regarded the Revolution as a laudable extension of the USA’s own. Jefferson observed, not altogether with regret, that the French had ‘kindled’ American politics, had stirred up the two factions to an ‘ardour’ which internal affairs alone had not managed to excite.


The French Revolutionary Government sent an envoy over to the USA, Citizen Genêt, and he had a mixed welcome. At Philadelphia the crowd donned red caps and sang the ‘Marseillaise’, but when someone showed George Washington a broadsheet depicting his own head being chopped off on the guillotine, Genêt’s recall was demanded. Jefferson sadly described all this as ‘liberty warring on itself’, while to the French, the USA no longer seemed an unshakeable ally. Genêt’s successor wrote: ‘Jefferson, I say, is an American and, as such, he cannot be sincerely our friend. An American is the born enemy of all the peoples of Europe.’


In 1796 John Adams succeeded Washington as President, and the country came near to declaring war on France and making an alliance with Britain. When Jefferson himself took over the Presidency in 1801 he studiously embraced neutrality. He said he was determined to avoid ‘implicating’ the USA with Europe, ‘even in support of principles which we mean to pursue’.


The emergence of Napoleon further diminished American enthusiasm for the French cause. For a time, the victorious Bonaparte, who had made Spain cede Louisiana back to France, planned an expedition to New Orleans to take power there. But it never sailed, and eventually Louisiana was sold to the Americans for $15 million, a purchase that almost doubled the size of the USA.


The two-and-a-half-year war between Britain and America, which broke out in 1812, achieved nothing beyond reinforcing the American belief in neutrality; the Monroe Doctrine of 1823 warned Europe that the United States were ‘henceforth not to be considered as subjects for future colonization’, while American policy towards the outside world was now simply ‘not to interfere’. Yet though isolationism had become the dominant note in official circles, a steady stream of Americans continued to cross to Europe, many of them on cultural Grand Tours. Among literary men, Washington Irving came to Paris in 1804, the scholar George Ticknor in 1819, James Fenimore Cooper and Henry Wadsworth Longfellow in 1826, Ralph Waldo Emerson in 1832, and Nathaniel Hawthorne in 1858. The first young American to study painting at the École des Beaux-Arts in Paris, John Vanderlyn, came in 1796, and many others followed. Doctors, clergymen, and bankers came too; and in 1844 P. T. Barnum brought General Tom Thumb to perform before Louis Philippe. In 1858 an American Church was established in the rue de Berri for members of the nonconformist congregations; and in the 1880s the Episcopalians built themselves a cathedral off the Champs-Élysées. An American newspaper magnate, James Gordon Bennett, established a European edition of his New York Herald in Paris in 1887, while the Chicago Tribune, not to be outdone, set up its own Paris edition a little later.


*


Alongside this solidly respectable American community of the Right Bank, with its smart hotels, cathedrals, and newspapers, another Paris began to attract its share of American attention. It was this ‘alternative’ Paris that would draw writers to the French capital in such droves after the First World War.


The Latin Quarter, on the Left Bank opposite Notre Dame, came to be so called in medieval times because it housed the university, and students who flocked there from all over Europe used Latin rather than French as their lingua franca in the streets. By the late nineteenth century it was the only part of central Paris to retain much of its medieval layout, for during the 1850s Baron Haussmann, Prefect of the Seine under Napoleon III, had been commissioned to plan a drastic reconstruction of the city, sweeping away most of the narrow alleyways and lanes where criminals and insurgents could hide out – as described in Victor Hugo’s Les Misérables (1862) – and which had helped to foment uprisings like those of 1830 and 1848. Haussmann’s brief was to drive broad boulevards through the huddle. This he did, ruthlessly. But the Latin Quarter remained comparatively untouched, and soon began to attract tourists who came in search of its celebrated vie bohème.


The life-style of the Quartier Latin had always been bohemian – as is demonstrated by the careers of two early members of the University of Paris, Peter Abelard and the rakish poet François Villon – but nobody seemed to consider this of much interest until the 1840s, when a book about Latin Quarter life suddenly became a bestseller. It was written by a concierge’s son, a hack writer named Henri Murger, who preferred to call himself Henry Mürger, and had abandoned his clerk’s job in the hope of becoming a poet and painter. The result was his Scènes de la Bohème,* serialised in a Paris magazine during the 1840s and staged there in 1849. Fifty years later, Mürger’s book was sentimentalised in Puccini’s La Bohème.


Mürger’s Bohemia – an exaggeration, though not a gross one, of the real thing – is a Latin Quarter inhabited by art students, would-be poets, and literary hacks employed by mysterious periodicals. They occupy garrets, avoid paying their rent, and borrow wherever they can, so as to eat in such pot-houses as Mother Cadet’s, ‘famous for its rabbit-stew, its genuine choucroute and a watery white wine with a flavour of musket flints’. Garret life consists largely of cutting up one’s furniture and burning it to keep warm. The hack writer Rodolphe, the book’s hero, dwells at the top of an old building near the Place de la Contrescarpe, close to the river and the Sorbonne. In order to keep his fire stoked, Rodolphe has cut up everything except the bed and two chairs, which are made of iron; sometimes he takes to burning his own manuscripts. Yet there is never any real hardship. Creditors are outwitted, forgotten dinner invitations surface just when the stomach demands attention, and loans are raised from skinflint uncles. When the worst comes to the worst, Rodolphe sleeps at an address on the Avenue de Saint-Cloud, ‘in the third tree on the left’.


He picks up his first girl, Louise, in a dance hall. She is one of the tribe of grisettes, apprentice seamstresses and milliners who wear grey work-dresses in the daytime and minister to the fancies of the students and other bohemians at night. Mürger calls her ‘one of those birds of passage that nest, as fancy or often as necessity dictates, for a day, or rather for a night, in the garrets of the Latin Quarter, and readily stay for a few days in one place, if they can be detained by a whim – or by ribbons’. Sex is part of the backdrop in the Latin Quarter, and is treated with the same brisk humour as are the young men’s financial scrapes:




Marcel’s door … half opened and Rodolphe was confronted with the spectacle of a young man wearing only glasses and a shirt. ‘I cannot receive you,’ he told Rodolphe.


‘Why not?’


A woman’s head poked out from behind a curtain. ‘There’s the answer,’ said Marcel.


‘She’s not at all good looking,’ said Rodolphe, as the door was shut in his face.





Rodolphe, evicted from his garret, is immediately taken in by its next tenant, the eighteen-year-old grisette Mimi, ‘with whom Rodolphe had at one time done a little billing and cooing’. She is described as ‘an adorable creature with a voice like the clash of cymbals’. (Another of the grisettes is known as Musette because she sounds like a bagpipe.)


When neither borrowing money nor bedding their girls, Rodolphe and his friends – ‘Gustave Colline, the great philosopher, Marcel, the great painter, Schaunard, the great musician’ – loll about in the Café Momus. The patron complains that they drive away all other customers: they steal the newspapers, monopolise the trictrac board, paint pictures, make coffee in their own percolator, and refuse to pay the bill.


Rodolphe is working endlessly on a play, while Marcel the painter labours at a canvas entitled The Crossing of the Red Sea, which has been offered for exhibition so many times that ‘if it had been put on wheels, it could have gone to the Louvre by itself’. The picture is eventually sold to a grocer, who has a steam-boat and the words Marseille Harbour painted on it and hangs it up as his shop sign. Marcel is delighted.


Rodolphe and his friends have a thoroughly un-solemn attitude to the arts. An evening of festivities announced by them includes the following events:




8.30 pm. M. Alexandre Schaunard, distinguished Virtuoso, will perform on the piano ‘The Influence of Blue upon the arts’, a mimetic symphony …


9.30 pm. M. Gustave Colline, hyperphysical philosopher, and M. Schaunard will embark upon a comparative discussion of philosophy and metaphysics. To prevent collision between the antagonists, they will be tied together …


N.B. All persons desirous to read or recite poems will be immediately expelled from the Rooms and handed over to the police.





Much fun is poked at the serious literary aspirations of one Carolus Barbemuche, who wants to join the bohemians, and tells them solemnly: ‘In my view, art is a sacred calling.’ Rodolphe writhes in an agony of boredom when Barbemuche reads to him from one of his manuscripts.


Mimi deserts Rodolphe for a nobleman; Rodolphe publishes a poem about her, and when her new lover sees it he throws her out. Dying of tuberculosis, she returns to Rodolphe and his friends; but her demise is treated briskly and without melodrama, and the book ends with Rodolphe and Marcel determining to buy themselves a slap-up meal.


Scènes de la Bohème was translated into English, but was too risqué to catch on in the drawing rooms of Kensington and Boston, Massachusetts. The great popularity of the Latin Quarter ‘bohemian’ image in the English-speaking world by the early twentieth century owed something to Puccini’s bowdlerised operatic version of the story, but just as much to a novel by an Englishman. A few years after the Scènes had first been published in Paris, a twenty-two-year-old English painter of French descent, George du Maurier, came to the Latin Quarter to study art. He eventually became well known as a Punch cartoonist, but at the end of his life he turned novelist. His Trilby (1894), loosely based on his own experiences as a Paris art student, was a runaway success on both sides of the Atlantic, playing no small part in attracting young Americans to Paris in the years that followed.


Du Maurier’s Latin Quarter is scarcely recognisable as Mürger’s. His bohemians are affluent young Englishmen of the upper class, with mutton-chop whiskers and top hats. Far from needing to burn their furniture, they live in mid-Victorian splendour and according to mid-Victorian morals. Du Maurier’s appallingly named hero, Little Billee, is ‘innocent of the world and its wicked ways; innocent of French especially, and the ways of Paris and its Latin Quarter’. He exults in the company of his ‘glorious pair of chums’, Taffy and the Laird, and has an ‘almost girlish purity of mind’. His friends walk everywhere arm in arm with him as if he were their grisette.


The heroine, Trilby O’Ferrall, an artist’s model of Irish birth, is equally ambiguous sexually. Du Maurier gravely informs us that she ‘would have made a singularly handsome boy’, and his drawings emphasise her masculinity. Though she poses for artists ‘in the altogether’ – it makes Little Billee ‘sick’ to think of this – she is described in sexless, religious terms: Little Billee perceives in her ‘a well of sweetness … the very heart of compassion, generosity, and warm sisterly love’, and hopes to turn her into the sort of girl who could be ‘his sister’s friend and co-teacher at the Sunday school’. Du Maurier admits that Trilby’s life so far has not been exactly ‘virtuous’, but emphasises that she has ‘followed love for love’s sake only,’ and persuades himself that ‘she might almost be said to possess a virginal heart, so little did she know of love’s heartaches’.


Having cut himself off from Mürger’s themes – the comedy of poverty and the ups and downs of sexual entanglements – du Maurier is obliged to cobble together a plot combining Dickens with stage melodrama. Svengali, the Jewish mesmerist and musician who catches Trilby in his snare, is Fagin revived, ‘a tall bony individual … of Jewish aspect … His thick, heavy, languid, lustreless black hair fell down behind his ears on to his shoulders, in that musician-like way that is so offensive to normal Englishmen.’ He mesmerises Trilby into becoming a great singer, but then dies, whereupon she fades away.


Silly as the story is, ‘people went Trilby mad,’ writes Gerald du Maurier, the author’s son, ‘especially in America’. The novel was still well known, at least by hearsay, among the Americans who came to Montparnasse in the 1920s. One of them, Kay Boyle, had been called Trilby by one of her boyfriends back home.


*


Among the subsidiary characters in Trilby is a figure named in the published book as ‘Antony, a Swiss’, but who in the original serial publication (in Harper’s) is called ‘Joe Sibley’ and is an American:




… the idle apprentice, le roi des truands … to whom everything was forgiven, as to François Villon … Always in debt … a most exquisite and original artist, and also somewhat eccentric in his attire … When the money was gone, then would [he] hie him to some beggarly attic in some lost Parisian slum, and write his own epitaph … decorating [it] with fanciful designs … On the third day or thereabouts, a remittance would reach him from some long-suffering sister or aunt … or else the fickle mistress or faithless friend (who had been looking for him all over Paris) would discover his hiding-place, the beautiful epitaph would be walked off in triumph to le père Marcas in the Rue du Ghette and sold for twenty, fifty, a hundred francs; and then … back again to Bohemia … époi, da capo!


And now that his name is a household word … he loves to remember all this.





This was du Maurier’s reminiscence of James McNeill Whistler, who did not love to remember it in the least, but threatened to sue; hence the change of name and nationality when Trilby appeared as a book.


Du Maurier had crossed paths with Whistler during art-student days in Paris, and despite the expurgation of Trilby, Whistler’s features can be detected among the background figures in several illustrations in the book– long-haired, monocled, and in dandy’s clothes. Born in Lowell, Massachusetts, in 1834, the son of a railway engineer, Whistler had set off at the age of twenty-one to study painting in Paris, in the atelier of the Swiss artist Charles Gleyre, who also instructed Renoir. Whistler soon became known as a natural Paris bohemian; he acquired his first grisette – a hot-tempered girl known as Fumette or La Tigresse – and, unlike du Maurier and his friends, entered completely into Latin Quarter life. Behaving like any rapin (art student), he would pawn his jacket on hot days to buy cool drinks, and attend classes at Gleyre’s only when he felt like it. He dressed with panache, reviving a florid style of costume that had first appeared in the 1830s. It is said that he had not merely read Scènes de la Bohème but knew much of the book by heart.


After a journey to Alsace in the summer of 1858, Whistler produced his first successful work, a group of etchings known as The French Set. The following year he abandoned Paris for London. He was often back there, but from then on avoided the Latin Quarter, no longer regarding himself as a penurious bohemian; Montmartre was his preferred place of residence.


His attitude to Paris is striking. There could be no greater contrast with the British reserve of the du Maurier set, who when they wanted an evening out would generally go to an English restaurant where they could dine off roast beef and beer. Whistler, far from conforming to his national background, was rejecting the whole American Puritan tradition from which he had emerged, a tradition embodied by his picture of his pious mother sitting in the gloom. He was also the first American in Paris to achieve a reputation as a trouble-maker. On one occasion he struck a workman for accidentally dropping some plaster on him; the American Minister in France had to be called to court to smooth out the affair. He also had a fight with a Paris cab-driver, and knocked his brother-in-law through a plate-glass window.


*


Henry James said his first memory was of the Place Vendôme, on the Right Bank near the Place de la Concorde, when he was six months old. His first important trip to Paris was a dozen years later, just as Whistler was in the middle of his year at Gleyre’s (1855–56). This visit was the result of James’s father’s determination to take his sons and daughter abroad from New York for a year, ‘to absorb French and German and get a better sensuous education’. In Paris they stayed first in a house rented from an American who divided his year between Louisiana and France; Henry remembered shiny floors, a perilous staircase, ormolu vases, gilded panels, brocaded walls, endless mirrors.


The James boys were provided with a French tutor, Monsieur Lerambert, who wore a tight black coat and spectacles, and Henry endured endless mornings of lessons rendering La Fontaine into English. In the afternoons a governess, Mademoiselle Danse, would take them for walks. There was Guignol (Punch and Judy) in booths on the Champs-Élysées, and a warren of little streets and squares to wander through, for Haussmann’s reconstruction of the city was far from complete. Later, Henry and his elder brother William began to attend school in a somewhat curious institution, part classroom, part pension, in the rue Balzac, where what Henry later called ‘ancient American virgins’ drifted in from the dining room to learn French alongside the children.


Henry James made his first independent trip to Europe after studying at Harvard Law School. He spent some time in Paris in the autumn of 1872, finding it so thronged with American society – the Lowells, the Nortons, and other blue-blooded Bostonians – that it seemed almost ‘Massachusetts-on-Seine’. He wrote to his father that he and James Russell Lowell had ‘tramped over half Paris and into some queer places … There is a good deal of old Paris left still.’ He told Charles Eliot Norton that he would probably stay on for some weeks, ‘unless indeed M. Thiers [the current President] and the Assembly between them treat us to another revolution’. James’s fear of insurrection was understandable; it was only eighteen months since the terrible struggles of the Paris Commune, in which 20,000 people had been killed and the Tuileries palace burnt to the ground. But Thiers and the Third Republic managed to retain control, and James’s 1872 Paris stay was peaceful. Writing to his brother William, he described how he usually spent his day:




Mornings and very often evenings in my room; afternoons in the streets, walking, strolling, flânant, prying, staring, lingering at bookstalls and shop-windows; six o’clock dinner … De temps en temps the theatre … I walked to the Odéon in the rain (it hasn’t stopped in three weeks) and enjoyed through the flaring dripping darkness from the Pont du Carrousel the great spectacle of the movement, the enormous crue of the Seine … It stretched out from quay to quay, rushing tremendously and flashing back the myriad lights from its vast black bosom like a sort of civilised Mississippi.





The letter continues by observing that, as a crowd, ‘the Americans in Paris (as observed at Munroe’s, the Grand Hotel etc.) excite nothing but antipathy.’ On the other hand, ‘I enjoy very much in a sort of chronic way which has every now and then a deeper throb, the sense of being in a denser civilization than our own. Life at home has the compensation that there you are a part of the civilization, whereas here you are outside it. It’s a choice of advantages.’


The French nobleman who in 1776 had regarded Benjamin Franklin as the equal of the ancient Athenians might have been surprised to find Henry James, a century later, judging Paris ‘a denser civilization’ than the USA: at the dawn of its independence, the latter had seemed to promise so much. But the nineteenth century had not deepened and enriched the quality of life in the USA; the civilised outlook of a Franklin or a Jefferson was becoming the exception rather than the rule in public and even intellectual circles, as the national energies bent themselves almost exclusively on the amassing of personal wealth, and the simple fact was that Europe, the Old World, was ‘denser’ in culture simply by virtue of its vastly longer history. James, on his walks about Paris in the rain, did not miss that point.


Coming back to Paris in 1875, he began to work his observations of the differences between the two societies into his second novel, The American (1877). The story was serialised in the Atlantic while it was being composed, and was largely based on his own daily experiences in Paris, sometimes scarcely assimilated into fictional form. Its hero Christopher Newman, a wealthy young American visiting France, is almost a caricature of the national type, ‘the superlative American’. He ‘had never tasted tobacco … His complexion was brown and the arch of his nose bold and well-marked … He had the flat jaw and the firm, dry neck which are frequent in the American type.’


Speaking no French, Newman blunders when dealing with the Parisians, but gets away with it through sheer nerve. He admits that, though he has made his pile back home, in Paris ‘it’s as if I were as simple as a little child, and as if a little child might take me by the hand and lead me about’. He makes the acquaintance of Tristram, an American who lives with his wife ‘behind one of those chalk-coloured façades which decorate with their pompous sameness the broad avenues distributed by Baron Haussmann over the neighbourhood of the Arc de Triomphe’. Mrs Tristram, discovering that Newman wants a wife, introduces him to a half-English, half-French widow, Claire de Cintré, and the novel is thereafter chiefly concerned with his tortuous relations with her family, the de Bellegardes. But there are passing portraits of other American expatriates and tourists, such as the Unitarian minister Babcock, whose ‘digestion was weak and he lived chiefly on Graham bread and hominy – a regimen to which he was so much attached that his tour seemed to him destined to be blighted when, on landing on the Continent, he found these delicacies fail to flourish under the table d’hôte system’. Mr Babcock claims to be fond of pictures and churches, ‘but nevertheless in his secret soul he detested Europe’.


Newman takes French lessons at the first opportunity, and soon acquires a thoroughly sophisticated and European style of conversation. Claire de Cintré’s brother is duly admiring of this, but is more impressed by Newman’s unchanging Americanness. ‘It’s a sort of air you have,’ he tells Newman, ‘of being imperturbably, being irremovably and indestructibly (that’s the thing!) at home in the world … I seem to see you move everywhere like a big stockholder on his favourite railroad. You make me feel awfully my want of shares. And yet the world used to be supposed to be ours. What is it I miss?’


*


James’s view, then, was that each side – Americans and Europeans – had something to learn from the other; a judgement that would doubtless have been shared by the promoters of the Statue of Liberty. The appeal for funds for the statue opened in 1876, just as James was writing The American and moving from Paris to England.


The statue did not owe its inception only to a desire to express Franco-American friendship. Relations between the two countries had, after all, been diplomatically cool since the 1790s. La Liberté was intended by her French promoters not just as a gift to the USA, but as a subtle reproach to France herself for not achieving the high ideals of liberty and democracy which her Revolution had promised, and which the American struggle for independence did seem to have achieved.


The French did not realise that from the USA the picture looked rather different: that Americans were beginning to feel themselves trapped in a shallow and materialistic society, and that they would soon begin to turn towards Europe, the land that seemed to them to offer a true sense of liberation.




* Later known as Scènes de la vie de Bohème.
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The Introducers
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Slowly I was knowing that I was a genius





Some eighteen months after Henry James’s departure for London, an American-Jewish mother and her five children arrived in Paris and settled for a while in Passy, which was now a suburb in the sixteenth arrondissement. The husband, Daniel Stein, had made a success in the clothing and textile business in the USA. In 1874 he had taken his wife and children on business to his native Europe. They spent about three years in Vienna; then Daniel had to return to the USA and his wife Milly came to Paris for a while with the children, Michael (aged thirteen), Simon, Bertha, Leo, and four-year-old Gertrude.


‘Gertrude Stein,’ writes Gertrude Stein in The Autobiography of Alice B. Toklas,




remembers a little school [in Paris] where she and her elder sister stayed and where there was a little girl in the corner of the school yard and the other little girls told her not to go near her, she scratched. She also remembers the bowl of soup with french bread for breakfast and she also remembers that they had mutton and spinach for lunch and as she was very fond of spinach and not fond of mutton she used to trade mutton for spinach with the little girl opposite. She also remembers all her three older brothers coming to see them at the school and coming on horse-back. She also remembers a black cat jumping from the ceiling of their house at Passy and scaring her mother and some unknown person rescuing her.





The Stein family stayed at Passy for about a year, then returned to the USA, settling in California. The mother died when Gertrude was fourteen, the father three years later; but in any case Gertrude already depended emotionally on her brother Leo.


She went to live with an aunt on the East Coast, studying at the ‘Harvard Annex’, the women’s college at Cambridge, Massachusetts, which was soon renamed Radcliffe. There she was taught philosophy and psychology by Henry James’s brother William, with whom she hit it off entirely. ‘It was a very lovely spring day,’ she writes, 




Gertrude Stein had been going to the opera every night and going also to the opera in the afternoon and had been otherwise engrossed and it was the period of the final examinations, and there was the examination in William James’ course. She sat down with the examination paper before her and she just could not. Dear Professor James, she wrote at the top of the paper, I am sorry but really I do not feel a bit like an examination paper in philosophy today, and left


The next day she had a postal card from William James saying, Dear Miss Stein, I understand perfectly how you feel I often feel like that myself. And underneath it he gave her work the highest mark in his course.





She did not, however, read his brother’s novels. Later she developed a great admiration for Henry James and called him her ‘forerunner, he being the only nineteenth century writer who being an american felt the method of the twentieth century’. But when she was young he seemed to belong too much to the elder generation. ‘The parents are too close,’ she writes, ‘they hamper you, one must be alone.’


At Radcliffe her written work rarely did her justice. ‘She never wrote good English and grammar meant nothing to her,’ says a contemporary. But she was full of vitality and seemed to be unselfconscious about her rotund and dumpy appearance. She often went for walks in the country with another girl: ‘We said if we have any trouble with a man Gertrude will climb out on the furthest limb of a tree and drop on him.’


Leaving Radcliffe in 1897, she decided to pursue a career in medicine, with an emphasis on psychology, and began to attend the Johns Hopkins medical school in Baltimore. She spent her summer vacations travelling in Europe with Leo, and largely thanks to what she saw there she began to lose interest in her medical studies, offering no resistance when her professors told her they would ‘flunk’ her. One of her women friends pleaded that she would be letting down the feminist cause, but Gertrude answered: ‘You don’t know what it is to be bored.’ She had been especially bored by abnormal psychology, of which she writes: ‘The abnormal … is so obvious … The normal is so much more simply complicated and interesting.’


She began to realise that her own psychology was ‘abnormal’, at least by contemporary standards. In 1903 she wrote a novella, Q.E.D. (eventually published posthumously as Things as They Are). Based on events in her life, it describes the passionate relationship between Adele – a modified self-portrait – and the tall, slender Helen. Adele is the more passive partner, but observes of the possibility of a sexual affair: ‘It is something one ought to know. It seems almost a duty.’ The drama, played out in America and Europe, is complicated by Helen’s feelings for another girl, Mabel. The book is never explicit about actual sexual relations, but seems to imply that Adele has difficulty in responding physically: ‘Helen demanded of her a response and always before that response was ready. Their pulses were differently timed. She could not go so fast and Helen’s exhausted nerves could no longer wait.’


Meanwhile Leo Stein had chosen to settle in Europe; he spent some time in the Florentine household of the American art connoisseur Bernard Berenson, but Berenson found him a tiresome bore and said he was ‘for ever inventing the umbrella’ – that is, had no sensibilities. Leo had hoped to become an art historian, but was discouraged by Berenson and went to Paris to reconsider his life. Over dinner with the musician Pablo Casals he suddenly decided he himself was ‘growing into an artist’. He rushed back to his hotel room, took off all his clothes, sat in front of the mirror, and began to draw himself. The result pleased him enough to send him off to the Louvre to sketch statues, and he enrolled as an art student at the Académie Julien, an institution favoured by aspiring Americans who could not get into the École des Beaux-Arts. Deciding that he needed a studio but abhorring the idea of a search, he consulted his uncle Ephraim, an expatriate American sculptor, who recommended 27 rue de Fleurus, a house in a quiet side-street near the Jardin du Luxembourg, on the northern edge of Montparnasse. Leo inspected it, found that there was a good studio adjacent to the garden pavillon, and rented both the studio and the two-storey pavilion itself.


He settled into rue de Fleurus during the early months of 1903, hanging the few pictures he had dared to buy, mostly Japanese prints. Gertrude joined him for a holiday in North Africa and Spain, then, when the autumn came, agreed to live with him in Paris. ‘She said,’ writes Leo, ‘she could stay there only on condition of a visit every year to America. I said she’d probably get used to it, but Gertrude is naturally dogmatic and said no, she was like that, and that was like her, and so it must be. That year she went to America for a visit and thirty-one years later she went again. No one really knows what is essential.’


At rue de Fleurus, the studio now became the living room, and a servant was engaged to look after brother and sister, who ate and slept in the pavillon. They quickly found that, thanks to having economised by setting up house together, funds from their shares in the family business in the USA were fast accumulating in the bank. They began to spend the spare money on pictures.


Gauguin, Cézanne and Renoir featured in their early purchases. Leo quickly showed himself perceptive of what was worthwhile among recent painting; he was one of the few people who had so far recognised the achievement of Cézanne (then nearing the end of his life) and virtually the only one able to write and talk articulately about it. Gertrude reported the purchases in the folksy style of letter she preferred at this date: ‘We is doin business … We are selling Jap prints to buy a Cézanne … Leo … don’t like it a bit and makes a awful fuss about asking enough money but I guess we’ll get the Cézanne.’


In The Autobiography of Alice B. Toklas, Gertrude describes how they acquired their first Cézanne from the Paris dealer Vollard: 




It was an incredible place. It did not look like a picture gallery. Inside there were a couple of canvases turned to the wall, in one corner was a small pile of big and little canvases thrown pell mell on top of one another, in the centre of the room stood a huge dark man glooming. This was Vollard cheerful. When he was really cheerless he put his huge frame against the glass door that led to the street … Nobody thought then of trying to come in …`


They told Monsieur Vollard they wanted to see some Cézanne landscapes … Oh, yes, said Vollard looking quite cheerful and he began moving about the room, finally he disappeared behind a partition in the back and was heard heavily mounting steps. After quite a long wait he came down again and had in his hand a tiny picture of an apple with most of the canvas unpainted. They all looked at this thoroughly, then they said, yes but you see what we wanted to see was a landscape. Ah yes, sighed Vollard and he looked even more cheerful, after a moment he again disappeared and this time came back with a painting of a back, it was a beautiful painting there is no doubt about that but the brother and sister were not yet up to a full appreciation of Cézanne nudes and so they returned to the attack. They wanted to see a landscape. This time after even a longer wait he came back with a very large canvas and a very little fragment of a landscape painted on it …


Just at this moment a very aged charwoman came down the same back stairs, mumbled, bon soir monsieur et madame, and quietly went out of the door, after a moment another old charwoman came down the same stairs, murmured, bon soir messieurs et mesdames and went quietly out of the door. Gertrude Stein began to laugh and said to her brother, it is all nonsense, there is no Cézanne. Vollard goes upstairs and tells these old women what to paint and he does not understand us and they do not understand him and they paint something and he brings it down and it is a Cézanne. They both began to laugh uncontrollably …





They got their landscape (‘a wonderful small green landscape … it covered all the canvas, it did not cost much’), and came back again and again. Vollard explained to his friends that their laughter annoyed him, ‘but gradually he found out that when they laughed most they usually bought something.’ He sold them ‘a tiny little Daumier … Cézanne nudes … a very very small Manet … two tiny little Renoirs … two Gauguins’.


In another gallery they saw, and fell for, Matisse’s La Femme au Chapeau, though visitors were ridiculing it. The price was 500 francs; they offered 400, but this was refused so they paid the full amount. At the time, Matisse was unknown and in penury, but his wife had guessed that anyone who offered 400 francs would probably give the full price if they only waited, and the 100 francs would make a huge difference. When Gertrude and Leo became friends with the Matisses and heard this story, they were delighted.


In the daytime, Leo attended his painting classes. Gertrude would sleep late, rising at noon and walking around Paris in the afternoon. During the evenings and nights she sat up writing. Soon after arriving in Paris she began work on Three Lives, a trio of novellas about two German servant girls and a black woman in the American South. The project was partially suggested by Flaubert’s Trois Contes, and also, she claimed, by the Femme au Chapeau, beneath which she sat as she wrote. The language and syntax were very queer and idiosyncratic, often mimetic of the oddities of German and Negro speech of the characters:




Anna led an arduous and troubled life.


Anna managed the whole little house for Miss Mathilda. It was a funny little house, one of a whole row all the same kind that made a close pile like a row of dominoes that a child knocks over, for they were built along a street which at this point came down a steep hill. They were funny little houses, two storeys high, with red brick fronts and long white steps.


This one little house was always very full with Miss Mathilda, an under servant, stray dogs and cats and Anna’s voice that scolded, managed, grumbled all day long … Gradually it came to Anna to take the whole direction of their movements, to make all the decisions as to their journeyings to and fro, and for the arranging of the places where they were to live.





Leo was convinced that Gertrude’s literary style was due to nature rather than artifice. He once remarked: ‘Gertrude does not know what words mean.’


A prominent characteristic of the style, now and later, was the mannered repetition of certain words and phrases. Her own term for this was ‘insistence’. Here it is at work in ‘Melanctha’, another of the Three Lives:




Melanctha was pale yellow and mysterious and a little pleasant like her mother, but the real power in Melanctha’s nature came through her robust and very unendurable black father … Melanctha Herbert almost always hated her black father, but she loved very well the power in herself that came through him. And so her feeling was really closer to her black coarse yellow father, than her feeling had ever been toward her pale yellow, sweet-appearing mother. The things she had in her of her mother never made her feel respect.





The first publishers to whom the book was submitted thought it must be the work of somebody only dubiously fluent in English. It eventually got into print in 1909.


*


The quality of the Steins’ growing Post-Impressionist collection began to attract visitors to 27 rue de Fleurus. ‘Matisse brought people,’ writes Gertrude, ‘everybody brought somebody, and they came at any time and it began to be a nuisance … So the Saturday evenings began.’ Saturday was instituted as a formal salon for visitors, with or without invitation. They might call, inspect the canvases, and be received by Gertrude. Among those who regularly put in appearances was Pablo Picasso.


Early in the Steins’ Paris sojourn, Leo had come across paintings by the young and penurious Spaniard. He particularly wanted to buy Picasso’s Jeune fille aux fleurs from a circus clown turned picture dealer named Sagot, but Gertrude thought there was ‘something rather appalling’ in the stark depiction of the naked pre-pubescent awkwardly clutching her basket of flowers, so Sagot told her: ‘But that is all right, if you do not like the legs and feet it is very easy to guillotine her and only take the head.’ They bought the entire picture.


Gertrude thought Picasso ‘a good-looking young bootblack’. At the dinner table, writes Gertrude, she ‘took up a piece of bread. This, said Picasso, snatching it back with violence, this piece of bread is mine. She laughed and he looked sheepish. That was the beginning of their intimacy.’


Gertrude and Leo introduced Picasso to Matisse – they had never met before. Indeed, Gertrude was becoming more and more of an introducer. She writes sarcastically of a man named Roché as ‘one of those characters that are always to be found in Paris … a general introducer. He knew everybody … and he could introduce anybody to anybody.’ But the same could be said of her.


Picasso started to paint her portrait; neither of them could remember whose suggestion it had been. She sat amid the cheerful disorder of his Montmartre studio, and Fernande, his current mistress, offered to read La Fontaine aloud while she posed. The portrait came at the end of Picasso’s ‘Rose Period’ (harlequins and circus subjects) and hints a little at his future Cubism. It was abandoned for a time; Gertrude writes that one day Picasso obliterated the entire head, saying ‘I cannot see you any longer when I look.’ He eventually finished it during 1906 without the sitter. As completed, it greatly sharpens Gertrude’s features, giving an impression of quickness of mind and concentration. The real Gertrude Stein was more fleshly, with a rounder, less energetic but more humorous face. Picasso himself commented of the picture: ‘Everybody thinks she is not at all like her portrait but never mind, in the end she will manage to look just like it.’ He gave it to Gertrude as a present – which later American collectors found hard to believe or understand.


*


Gertrude did not grow to look like the portrait; by the time Picasso had finished it she was fast putting on weight. A 1914 photograph of her in the studio at rue de Fleurus shows a much more corpulent figure than in the painting. Corpulence was a feature, too, of her next book, The Making of Americans, written between 1906 and 1911 but not published in full until 1925; Edmund Wilson has said that it suffers from ‘a sort of fatty degeneration of her imagination and style’. Here is a typical passage:




The children of all three of them by her possession of the mother of them and a little of the father of them had cut off from them in their later younger living a part of them and they had then a right to their sore feeling at her possession of their mother and a little of the father of them. There will be now more history of Madeleine Wyman in this possession.





This is part of a section which attempts to describe a family’s relationship with its governess, and it exemplifies the three principles on which the book was written. First, like Three Lives, the book’s style was intended to reflect the language and minds of the people it portrays – in this case an American German-Jewish family, the Herslands. Second, the absence of punctuation and the repetition or ‘insistence’ of certain phrases, sometimes even whole sentences, was meant (as Gertrude explained) as an attempt to get to ‘the bottom nature in people’ by ‘hearing how everybody said the same thing over and over again with infinite variations’. Third, the actual narrative technique tries to convey an endless series of instant pictures of the present moment, rather than a historical and cumulative presentation. Possibly it owed something to Gertrude’s studies with William James, who, she said, had taught her that ‘science is continuously busy with the complete description of something’. A more obvious influence is Cubism, a movement born while she was at work on the book.


Though the aims of The Making of Americans are laudable, what results is quite different. The book is subtitled The Hersland Family, and underneath all the experimental writing it is an American family novel in the genre pioneered by Louisa M. Alcott and her imitators. The narrative is spattered with observations which, if conventionally punctuated, could come from the pages of the Alcott imitators, or at better moments from Henry James or even Jane Austen. Here are two pieces from it, with nineteenth-century punctuation added:




Henry Dehning was a grown man, and, for his day, a rich one, when his father died … He was strong, and rich, and good tempered, and respected; and he showed it in his look; that look that makes young people think older ones are very aged.





Mrs Dehning was the quintessence of loud-voiced, good-looking prosperity … a woman whose rasping insensibility to gentle courtesy deserved the prejudice one cherished against her; but she was a woman, to do her justice, generous and honest; one whom one might like the better the more one saw her less.*





The Making of Americans appears, then, to be rather false modernism, an attempt to seem avant-garde when the underlying plan and material are somewhat conventional. It seems that Gertrude Stein was really trying to write ‘the great American novel’ – an expression she sometimes used – while disguising it as experimental.


The resemblance to James was noticed by the book’s typist: ‘Of course my love of Henry James was a good preparation for the long sentences.’ The lady at the typewriter was Alice Babette Toklas, then aged thirty, two years Gertrude’s junior, recently arrived in Paris. The name Alice B. Toklas sounds like one of Gertrude’s queer inventions in Three Lives or The Making of Americans; and Alice eventually became a shadow of Gertrude, to the extent that it was hard to believe she had ever had an independent existence.


She came from a very similar background: she was the daughter of a Polish-Jewish businessman in California, and, like Gertrude, her mother had died when she was in her teens. Alice received a college education, and thereafter drifted through a life of ladylike amusement in San Francisco. When she was thirty she went on vacation to Paris with a friend, Harriet Levy, and while she was there, Gertrude’s brother Michael Stein, whom Alice knew from San Francisco, introduced her to Gertrude.


Alice was no beauty. She had a perceptible moustache and an impassive, rather sullen expression. Mabel Dodge, a wealthy American friend of Gertrude’s, found her thoroughly disconcerting, ‘like Leah, out of the Old Testament, in her half-Oriental get-up … her barbaric chains and jewels – and her melancholy nose’. But Gertrude fell for her instantly.


Alice writes of their first meeting, in September 1907, in Michael Stein’s apartment:




It was Gertrude Stein who held my complete attention, as she did for all the many years I knew her until her death … She was a golden brown presence, burned by the Tuscan sun and with a golden glint in her warm brown hair. She was dressed in a warm brown corduroy suit. She wore a large round coral brooch and when she talked, very little, or laughed, a good deal, I thought her voice came from this brooch. It was unlike anyone else’s voice – deep, full, velvety like a great contralto’s … She was large and heavy with delicate small hands and a beautifully modelled and unique head.





This is one of the brighter passages from Alice’s real autobiography. What is Remembered (1963). Most of the book reads like a pale imitation of Gertrude, without any of the humour, vitality, or perception.


Gertrude’s own version of their first meeting, which she apparently means the reader to take seriously, has Alice coming to a swift judgement about her new friend: ‘I may say that only three times in my life have I met a genius and each time a bell within me rang and I was not mistaken … The three geniuses … are Gertrude Stein, Pablo Picasso and Alfred Whitehead … In no one of the three cases have I been mistaken.’ (Ezra Pound said that Gertrude told him the Jews had produced three geniuses: herself, Spinoza, and Jesus Christ.)


Gertrude invited Alice to a Saturday salon at rue de Fleurus, and to dinner with her and Leo beforehand. When Alice arrived she found Picasso and Fernande among the other guests. In The Autobiography of Alice B. Toklas, Gertrude has Alice say of this: ‘Fernande was the first wife of a genius I was to sit with. The geniuses came and talked to Gertrude Stein and the wives sat with me.’


Alice took an apartment for herself and her friend Harriet, but Gertrude set about undermining Harriet’s influence on Alice. When Harriet got religious mania, Gertrude advised her to kill herself. ‘This upset me more than it did Harriet,’ writes Alice. Gertrude then turned psychologist, analysing Alice according to her own terminology, and, says Alice,




diagnosed me as an old maid mermaid which I resented, the old maid was bad enough but the mermaid was quite unbearable. I cannot remember how this wore thin and finally blew away entirely. But by the time the buttercups were in bloom [summer 1908], the old maid mermaid had gone into oblivion and I had been gathering wild violets.





This appears to be a reference to sexual initiation, and some lines in one of Gertrude’s poems suggests that a fairly happy physical relationship was soon established:








Pussy how pretty you are …


Kiss my lips. She did


Kiss my lips again she did.


Kiss my lips over and over again she did.











‘Then my friend went back to California, and I joined Gertrude Stein in the rue de Fleurus.’ So writes Gertrude on behalf of Alice in the Autobiography, but it was more complicated than this. Harriet was still with Alice in the summer of 1908, so Gertrude invited them both down to Fiesole in Tuscany, fixed them up with a villa, then persuaded Alice to abandon Harriet and come away with her on a walking tour. On this journey, Gertrude would, as always, refuse to get up before midday, so they invariably set out when the sun was at its highest, Gertrude having donned her usual brown corduroys although she sweated profusely. Alice tagged along patiently. ‘The sun was giving a torrid heat,’ she writes of one such walk, from Perugia to Assisi, ‘so under some bushes I discarded my silk combination and stockings. It was all I could do.’ (Gertrude’s version has Alice say: ‘I gradually undressed … but even so I dropped a few tears before we arrived.’) Another time they walked in Spain, where the peasants assumed that Gertrude’s corduroys were the habit of a religious order. Alice meanwhile ‘always wore a black silk coat, black gloves and a black hat, the only pleasure I allowed myself were lovely artificial flowers on my hat’.


Still Harriet clung to Alice, and when they all got back to Paris after the 1908 trip, Alice and Harriet resumed apartment life together, despite heavy hints from Gertrude. In one of the ‘word-portraits’ Gertrude had begun to write of her acquaintances, there is a description of Harriet’s indecision and failure to understand when Gertrude and Alice had pointedly asked her what were her plans for the summer: ‘She said she did not have any plans for the summer. No one was interested in this thing in whether she had any plans for the summer. That is not the complete history of this thing, some were interested in this thing in her not having any plans for the summer …’ Finally, when Harriet took a trip back to California, Alice sent her a message that there was little point in coming back to Paris, as she was moving in with Gertrude.


‘And with that,’ says Alice, ‘I moved over to the rue de Fleurus.’ Leo does not seem to have minded; he gave up his study so that she could have a bedroom. He was currently involved in a lengthy courtship of a much-bedded artist’s model, Nina Auzias. He said he had no physical feelings for her, but regarded her as a ‘psychological study’, taking a voyeuristic interest in her sexual affairs. They were eventually married in 1921.


Leo sometimes wrote burlesques of his sister’s word-portraits, but this was scarcely necessary, for the originals often seem to set out to parody themselves. For example this is what Gertrude has to say about Picasso:




This one always had something being coming out of this one. This one was working. This one always had been working. This one was always having something that was coming out of this one … (etc.)





Which is far less illuminating than her rough notes for the piece: 




Do one about Pablo his emotional leap and courage as opposed to lack of courage in Cézanne and me. His laziness and lack of continuity and his facility too quick for the content. Too lazy to do sculpture …





Nevertheless the word-portraits are far more genuinely experimental than The Making of Americans – a real attempt at Cubism in prose. When some of them were published in Gertrude’s Tender Buttons (1914), they excited a number of young writers who were hoping to struggle free from the constraints of nineteenth-century diction. Among these was the American novelist Sherwood Anderson, who says of his discovery of her prose: ‘It excited me as one might grow excited in going out into a new and wonderful country where everything is strange.’
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